No. S283862

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

GILEAD TENOFOVIR CASES

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.,

Petitioner,

υ.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, Respondent;

and

PLAINTIFFS IN JCCP No. 5043, Real Parties in Interest.

Review of a Decision from the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four, No. A165558

San Francisco County Superior Court No. CJC-19-005043 Hon. Andrew Y.S. Cheng

APPLICATION FOR PERMISSION TO FILE AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF RESPONDENT AND REAL PARTIES IN INTEREST; AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF OF JUSTICE CATALYST

F. PAUL BLAND (SBN 298635) BERGER MONTAGUE PC 1001 G St., NW, Ste. 400 East Washington, DC 20001 (202) 809-9136 pbland@bm.net

isamuel@bm.net

JOSEPH E. SAMUEL, JR. (SBN 344732) BERGER MONTAGUE PC 1818 Market St., Ste. 3600 Philadelphia, PA 19130 (215) 875-3020 JULIE A. POLLOCK (SBN 346081) MATTHEW I. SUMMERS (SBN 349288) BERGER MONTAGUE PC 505 Montgomery St., Ste. 625 San Francisco, CA 94111 (415) 906-0684 jpollock@bm.net msummers@bm.net

Counsel for Amicus Curiae Justice Catalyst

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE
TABLE OF CONTENTS
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
APPLICATION FOR PERMISSION FOR JUSTICE CATALYST TO FILE BRIEF AS AMICUS CURIAE
BRIEF OF AMICUS CURIAE
INTRODUCTION
ARGUMENT 9
I. The Court should reject the pharmaceutical industry's tired refrain that proper regulation will stifle innovation
a. Courts and legislators have been hearing about this parade of horribles for at least 60 years
b. The pharmaceutical industry's fears about innovation are not just repetitive; they are also wrong
i. The pharmaceutical industry is more profitable than ever
ii. The pharmaceutical industry is more innovative than ever
iii. Innovation is driven by competition, not deregulation
II. There is nothing unprecedented about holding pharmaceutical companies liable for unreasonably manipulating their drug portfolio
a. Pharmaceutical companies are subject to liability under the antitrust laws for product hopping 21
b. While not perfectly analogous, product hopping law shows that attaching liability to Gilead is not unprecedented
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

	PAGE(S)
CASES	
Abbott Lab'ys v. Teva Pharms. USA, Inc. (TriCor), 432 F. Supp. 2d 408 (D. Del. 2006)	24
TTC v. Actavis, 570 U.S. 136 (2013)	12
TTC v. Warner Chilcott Holdings Co. III, Ltd., No. 1:05-cv-02179 (D.D.C. Oct. 23, 2006)	24
TTC v. Watson Pharms., Inc., No. 10-12729-DD, 2010 WL 5064781 (11th Cir. 2010)	12
Gilead Sciences, Inc. v. Cal. Super. Ct. S.F. Cty., No. A165558 (Cal. Ct. App. 2022)	15
n re Namenda Direct Purchaser Antitrust Litig., No. 15-cv-7488 (CM)(RWL) (S.D.N.Y.)	24
n re Namenda Indirect Purchaser Antitrust Litig., No. 15-cv-6549 (CM)(RWL) (S.D.N.Y.)	24
n re Suboxone Antitrust Litig., 64 F. Supp. 3d 665 (E.D. Pa. 2014)	
Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht, 587 U.S. 299 (2019)	13
Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht, No. 17-290 (U.S. 2018)	13, 14
New York ex rel. Schneiderman v. Actavis PLC, 787 F.3d 638 (2d Cir. 2015)21, 2	2, 23, 26
Novo Nordisk A/S v. Caraco Pharm. Lab'ys, Ltd., 601 F.3d 1359 (Fed. Cir. 2010)	11
T.H. v. Novartis Pharms. Corp., 4 Cal. 5th 145 (Cal. 2017)	14
T.H. v. Novartis Pharms. Corp., No. S233898, 2016 WL 11713479 (Cal. 2016)	14
T.H. v. Novartis Pharms. Corp., No. S233898, 2016 WL 7245262 (Cal. 2016)	14
Vyeth v. Levine, 555 U.S. 555 (2009)	13

Wyeth v. Levine, No. 06-1249, 2008 WL 2322236 (U.S. 2008)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Andrew W. Mulcahy, Comparing New Prescription Drug Availability and Launch Timing in the United States and Other OECD Countries (2024)
Angelica Battam, et al., Trends in FDA drug approvals over last 2 decades: An observational study, 9 J. FAM. MED. & PRIMARY CARE 105 (Jan. 28, 2020)
Ariel Katz, Pharmaceutical Lemons: Innovation and Regulation in the Drug Industry, 14 MICH. TELECOMM. & TECH. L. REV. 1 (2007)
Beatriz G. de la Torre & Fernando Albericio, <i>The Pharmaceutical Industry in 2023: An Analysis of FDA Drug Approvals from the Perspective of Molecules</i> , 29 MOLECULES 585 (2024)
CONG. BUDGET OFF., RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT IN THE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY (2021)
Drug Price Competition Act, Hearings Before the Subcommittee on Health and the Environment of the House Committee on Energy and Commerce, 98th Cong., 1st Session, Serial No. 98-67 (July 25, 1983) 11
Emma L. Henderson, et al., The Trajectory of Truth: A Longitudinal Study of the Illusory Truth Effect, 4(1) J. COGNITION 29 (2021)
Enrique Seoane-Vazquez, et al., Analysis of U.S. Food and Drug Administration new drug and biologic approvals, regulatory pathways, and review times, 1980-2022, 14 Sci. Reps. 3325 (Feb. 9, 2024)
Fred D. Ledly, et al., Profitability of Large Pharmaceutical Companies With Other Large Public Companies, 323(9) JAMA NETWORK 834 (2020)
FTC, REPORT ON PHARMACEUTICAL PRODUCT HOPPING (2022) 24
Gov't Accountability Off., Drug Industry Profits, Research and Development Spending, and Merger and Acquisition Deals, REP. TO CONG. REQUESTERS, Nov. 2017
Government Price Setting Has Potentially Devastating Consequences for Patients, PHRMA

Industry Profile: Pharmaceuticals/Health Products: 2022, OPEN SECRETS
Jeremy A. Greene & Scott H. Podolsky, Reform, Regulation, and Pharmaceuticals — The Kefauver–Harris Amendments at 50, 367,16 NEW ENGL. J. MED. 1481 (2012)
John (Xuefeng) Jiang, et al., How Did the Public U.S. Drugmakers' Sales, Expenses, and Profits Change Over Time?, EVIDENCE BASE (Nov. 5, 2021)
Luke Hawksbee, et al., Don't worry about the drug industry's profits when considering a waiver on covid-19 intellectual property rights, BMJ (Jan. 31, 2022)
Lynn Paramore, Experts: Negotiating Big Pharma's Prices Won't Stifle Innovation—They Don't Use the Money to Innovate!, INST. FOR NEW ECON. THINKING (Mar. 14, 2024)
Michael A. Carrier & Genevieve Tung, <i>The Industry that Cries Wolf: Pharma and Innovation</i> , STAT (Sept. 26, 2019)
Novel Drug Approvals for 2022, FDA
Novel Drug Approvals for 2023, FDA
Rebecca S. Eisenberg, <i>The Role of the FDA in Innovation Policy</i> , 13 MICH. TELECOMM. & TECH. L. REV. 345 (2007)
Richard C. Ausness, Corporate Misconduct in the Pharmaceutical Industry, 71 DePaul L. Rev. 1 (2021)
Robin Feldman, Drug companies keep merging. Why that's bad for consumers and innovation., WASH. POST: MADE BY HIST., Apr. 6, 2021
SEAN DICKSON & JEROMIE BALLREICH, HOW MUCH CAN PHARMA LOSE? A COMPARISON OF RETURNS BETWEEN PHARMACEUTICAL AND OTHER INDUSTRIES (2019)
Zuelin Li & Richard Thakor, How pay-for-delay affects competition and innovation in the pharmaceutical industry, VOXEU COLUMN (Aug. 11, 2021)

APPLICATION FOR PERMISSION FOR JUSTICE CATALYST TO FILE BRIEF AS AMICUS CURIAE

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.520(f), Justice Catalyst respectfully requests permission to file the attached amicus curiae brief in support of Respondent and Real Parties in Interest.

Justice Catalyst Law is a national public interest legal advocacy organization and nonprofit law firm that develops high-impact legal strategies. Justice Catalyst Law's advocacy and litigation have led to major industry reforms in areas of high complexity. Justice Catalyst Law also conducts critical research, campaigns, and participates as an amicus in cases involving social, economic, and consumer justice, corporate and state accountability, and civil rights and access to justice.

Justice Catalyst presents the accompanying brief in support of its goal of furthering the rights of persons to be protected by an effective and equitable tort system. Because Justice Catalyst believes the accompanying brief would assist the Court in its resolution of the issues this case presents, Justice Catalyst respectfully requests this Court's permission to file it.

More broadly, no party, attorney for a party, or judicial member drafted this brief or participated in our decision to file it. Other than Justice Catalyst, no person or entity, including any party or party's counsel, made a monetary contribution intended to fund the preparation or submission of this brief.

November 4, 2024

BERGER MONTAGUE PC

/s/ Paul Bland

F. PAUL BLAND (SBN 298635) 1001 G St., NW, Ste. 400 East Washington, DC 20001 (202) 809-9136 pbland@bm.net

JULIE A. POLLOCK (SBN 346081) MATTHEW I. SUMMERS (SBN 349288) 505 Montgomery St., Ste. 625 San Francisco, CA 94111 (415) 906-0684 jpollock@bm.net msummers@bm.net

JOSEPH E. SAMUEL, JR. (SBN 344732) 1818 Market St., Ste. 360 Philadelphia, PA 19130 (215) 875-3020 jsamuel@bm.net

Counsel for Amicus Curiae Justice Catalyst

BRIEF OF AMICUS CURIAE INTRODUCTION

The laws and regulations that apply to the pharmaceutical industry are many and varied, but they all have one common characteristic. When each new rule of law was first adopted, it came in the face of predictions of disaster. Each products liability rule was prophesied to be the end of all research, the end of new products, the end of innovation, and a catastrophe for public health. All limitations on exclusivity under patents and all laws that would encourage competition from generic products were met with similar threats of doom and disaster. And so here, in this case. Defendant Gilead and its various amici each suggest that if this Court were to affirm the thoughtful ruling of the Court of Appeal, that this would strike a crippling blow to innovation, and to America's public health.

The problem with these often-predicted disaster scenarios is that they repeatedly have not come true. Again and again, as new bodies of law were developed, the pharmaceutical industry has remained exceptionally profitable. Investment in research has repeatedly increased and new drug applications have flourished. Decisions by this Court and by the U.S. Supreme Court that were supposedly going to lead to catastrophe did not begin to do so. So, when this Court hears hyperventilated threats of disaster, it should see these for what they are: exaggerated predictions that are not going to pan out.

This brief also addresses another point. To hear Gilead and its amici tell it, the American legal system has never imposed any liability upon any conduct by a manufacturer or pharmaceuticals for manipulating the availability of a product to extend the time that the product is under patent, with a single exception: when the product is defective. Outside of defective products, however, Gilead says that the American legal system has always been silent, without any rules relating to patent manipulation. This is also exaggerated. In fact, there are several ways where liability has fastened in such settings. This brief will give one instructive example of an analogous area of law—the limitations that the antitrust laws have sometimes placed on "product hopping," which is a different, but related, kind of practice to Gilead's behavior here. Under Gilead's theory, since the conduct at issue in product hopping harms people but does not involve a defective product, it cannot possibly be illegal. But many courts and regulatory agencies have disagreed, for good and important reasons. So, the invisible limitation claimed by Gilead here—that manipulation of patents is always acceptable except when involving a defective product—is also illusory and wrong.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court should reject the pharmaceutical industry's tired refrain that proper regulation will stifle innovation.

Like a boy who cries wolf, Gilead recycles an argument that has echoed through the decades whenever virtually any type of legal regulation over the pharmaceutical industry has been proposed, no matter how large or small: that innovation will be "diminish[ed]", "undermine[d]", "chill[ed]," and "disincenvitiz[ed]" if the Court does not do what Gilead wants. Gilead Pet. for Review

at 34, 37, 50, 56. These arguments are repeated by Gilead's amici. But the only difference from that timeless fable here is that there isn't a real wolf at the end of the story. The Court should discredit this classic *ipse dixit*.

a. Courts and legislators have been hearing about this parade of horribles for at least 60 years.

For many years, the pharmaceutical industry and its allies have repeated the illusory truth¹ that any manner of legal liability or oversight will chill innovation.² In 1961, when addressing the legislative proposal that ultimately became the 1962 Kefauver-Harris Amendments to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the pharmaceutical industry complained that amendments caused a so-called "drug lag" harming U.S. innovation, whereby "innovative compounds reached markets in Europe long before the U.S. market."³

In the decades that followed, the industry has repeated this threat ad nauseum, seeking to obtain the same result with no regard to whether there is any logical connection between lessened innovation and a particular proposal. The major Drug Price

¹ The illusory truth effect describes the phenomenon by which statements begin to be perceived as more true merely because of how often they are repeated. See Emma L. Henderson, et al., The Trajectory of Truth: A Longitudinal Study of the Illusory Truth Effect, 4(1) J. COGNITION 29, 1–23 (2021).

² See Michael A. Carrier & Genevieve Tung, The Industry that Cries Wolf: Pharma and Innovation, STAT (Sept. 26, 2019) https://www.statnews.com/2019/09/26/innovation-boy-cried-wolf-pharma-industry/.

³ See Jeremy A. Greene & Scott H. Podolsky, Reform, Regulation, and Pharmaceuticals — The Kefauver–Harris Amendments at 50, 367,16 NEW ENGL. J. MED. 1481 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1210007.

Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, better known as the Hatch-Waxman Act, is generally regarded as a compromise whereby generic manufacturers could obtain expedited approval for generic drugs, while brand manufacturers could extend their patents for time lost during the approval process. It sought to strike "a balance between two potentially competing policy interests—inducing pioneering development of pharmaceutical formulations and methods and facilitating efficient transition to a market with low-cost, generic copies of those pioneering inventions at the close of a patent term." Novo Nordisk A/S v. Caraco Pharm. Lab'ys, Ltd., 601 F.3d 1359, 1360 (Fed. Cir. 2010). But before its enactment, the pharmaceutical industry threatened that under Hatch-Waxman, "[i]nnovation will dry up" and "you get what you pay for." Of course, even under Hatch-Waxman, the pharmaceutical industry has seen its profits and drug prices continue to increase. See supra Section I(b).

More recent legislative efforts have been no different, with industry representatives consistently warning that any attempt at reform will stifle innovation. The Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America ("PhRMA") has led the charge. In 2013 it opposed efforts to curb the misuse of patent enforcement and legislation targeting pay-for-delay settlements; in 2019 it opposed government "march-in rights" compelling the grant of a patent license if the patent was procured through government-funded

⁴ Drug Price Competition Act, Hearings Before the Subcommittee on Health and the Environment of the House Committee on Energy and Commerce, 98th Cong., 1st Session, Serial No. 98-67, p. 131 (July 25, 1983).

research; and most recently, it opposed federal government negotiation of Medicare prescription drugs under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022.⁵

These industry threats have permeated the courts as well. Even the amici supporting Gilead in this appeal have repeated this in countless cases about whether stale argument pharmaceutical industry can or should be subject to tort liability. For example, in the lead-up to the landmark FTC v. Actavis decision, where the U.S. Supreme Court held that a reversepayment patent settlement (a so-called "pay for delay" agreement) antitrust violation, the brand-name could constitute an pharmaceutical defendants argued to the Eleventh Circuit that reverse-payment agreements fit perfectly within the Hatch-Waxman framework and to outlaw them would result in an "undercutting of the reward for innovation." The industry's fears did not stop the U.S. Supreme Court from holding that reverse payment settlements are not immune from antitrust liability. See FTC v. Actavis, 570 U.S. 136 (2013).

⁵

⁵ See Carrier, supra note 2; Government Price Setting Has Potentially Devastating Consequences for Patients, PHRMA, https://phrma.org/en/pricesetting (last visited Oct. 28, 2024); see also Lynn Paramore, Experts: Negotiating Big Pharma's Prices Won't Stifle Innovation—They Don't Use the Money to Innovate!, INST. FOR NEW ECON. THINKING (Mar. 14, 2024), https://www.ineteconomics.org/perspectives/blog/experts-negotiating-big-pharmas-prices-wont-stifle-innovation-they-dont-use-the-money-to-innovate.

⁶ Br. for Appellees Unimed Pharmaceuticals, LLC, Abbott Products, Inc., and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc., FTC v. Watson Pharms., Inc., No. 10-12729-DD, 2010 WL 5064781, at *51 (11th Cir. 2010).

In Wyeth v. Levine, the U.S. Supreme Court held that federal regulatory approval of a medication does not shield the manufacturer from state tort liability. Wyeth v. Levine, 555 U.S. 555 (2009). Supporting Wyeth, both PhRMA and the Biotechnology Innovation Organization ("BIO") argued that "the growth in state-law tort suits challenging FDA-approved labeling has posed an increasingly serious threat to public health" and that "[s]tate-law tort suits can deprive doctors and patients of critical medicines by inhibiting drug development or driving beneficial drugs from the market." The Supreme Court was apparently not convinced and certainly did not hold that state tort law should not apply to drug manufacturers. The landmark decision in Wyeth was handed down 15 years ago, but none of the disaster scenarios prophesized by PhRMA have eventuated.

And in *Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht*, 587 U.S. 299 (2019), a case where the Court clarified *Wyeth*, PhRMA and BIO argued the Third Circuit's decision had "hamper[ed] innovation and harm[ed] public health" by "discounting the rigorous FDA-supervised process manufacturers undertake to bring a medicine to market and encouraging civil litigation." The U.S. Chamber of Commerce similarly argued that "[a]llowing failure-to-warn claims to proceed under the varying tort laws of the fifty states despite a preponderance of the evidence that FDA

⁷ Br. for PhRMA and BIO as Amici Curiae Supporting Pet'r, Wyeth v. Levine, No. 06-1249, 2008 WL 2322236, at *14, *18 (U.S. 2008).

⁸ Br. of Amici Curiae Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America and Biotechnology Innovation Organization in Support of Pet'r at 34, *Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht*, No. 17-290 (U.S. 2018).

would not have approved the proposed warnings would impose significant and unpredictable defense and liability costs on manufacturers, and thereby reduce their willingness to invest in drug development."9

Here in California, the industry and its allies have repeated the same old story. In T.H. v. Novartis Pharms. Corp., a case filed against a brand name drug company on behalf of twins who were injured in utero after a label failed to warn that the drug can cause fetal brain damage, industry-aligned amici warned that to impose liability "could rapidly pose an existential threat to legitimate high-technology businesses"10 and "will make California a magnet for novel lawsuits against manufacturers, thereby hurting California's economy and costing manufacturing jobs."11 Court rejected the industry's parade of horribles, holding that brand-name manufacturers can be sued for negligently misrepresenting the dangers of generic drugs. T.H. v. Novartis Pharms. Corp., 4 Cal. 5th 145, 165 (Cal. 2017).

To no one's surprise, these same fears have been stoked again here and in the Court of Appeal by both Gilead and the amici

⁹ Br. of the Product Liability Advisory Council, Inc. and the Chamber of Commerce of the United States of America as Amici Curiae in Support of Pet'r at 34, *Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht*, No. 17-290 (U.S. 2018).

¹⁰ Appl. of Product Liability Advisory Council, Inc. for Permission to File Amicus Curiae Br. and Proposed Amicus Curiae Br. Supporting Def. and Resp't Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp., *T.H. v. Novartis Pharms. Corp.*, No. S233898, 2016 WL 7245262, at *26 (Cal. 2016).

¹¹ Amici Curiae Br. of National Association of Manufacturers and American Tort Reform Association in Support of Def./Resp't, *T.H. v. Novartis Pharms. Corp.*, No. S233898, 2016 WL 11713479, at *24 (Cal. 2016).

supporting it.¹² They ring hollower now than they ever have. Just as it did in *Novartis*, this Court should reject this tired, slipperyslope argument and focus on the merits of this appeal.

b. The pharmaceutical industry's fears about innovation are not just repetitive; they are also wrong.

Gilead insists that the pharmaceutical industry's fear of liability for negligence will result in disastrous policy consequences and widespread societal harm—stymied innovation, a refusal to develop new drugs, and ironically, "diminished consumer safety." Reply at 9; Opening Br. at 10, 50–51. As shown above, these are recycled talking points, resurfacing each time a legal change may impact the pharmaceutical industry. *See infra* at Section II(a).

They are also untrue. Empirical research has shown that regulation has not devastated the industry, that competition drives innovation, and that American drug manufacturers have enjoyed record profits and robust growth in innovation over the past several decades, despite the industry outcry that each regulatory shift will result in its collapse.

i. The pharmaceutical industry is more profitable than ever.

Between 1979 and 2018, publicly traded U.S. pharmaceutical companies doubled their sales revenue—from

¹² See, e.g., Gilead Opening Br. at 54, 63; Gilead Reply Br. at 8, 36; Gilead Pet. for Review at 34, 37, 50, 56; Letter Brief of Amici Curiae ALLvanza, et al. in Support of Pet. for Review at 1, 4; Letter Br. of Amici Curiae Viasat, Inc., et al., in Support of Pet. for Review at 2–5; Letter Br. of Amicus Curiae Product Liability Advisory Council, Inc., in Support of Pet. for Review at 4–5; Br. of PhRMA, et al. in Support of Gilead Sciences, Inc. at 27–34, Gilead Sciences, Inc. v. Cal. Super. Ct. S.F. Cty., No. A165558 (Cal. Ct. App. 2022).

\$139 billion in 1979 to \$321 billion in 2018 (both numbers in 2018 dollars)—and more than tripled their profits. ¹³ Profits increased from 15.3% of sales revenue in 1979 to 23.4% in 2018. ¹⁴ Today, the industry has the highest average profit margins of any sector in the U.S., exceeding the energy and financial sectors. ¹⁵

In fact, the U.S. pharmaceutical industry has been outperforming other industries for decades. Empirical research comparing the profitability of large public pharmaceutical companies to large public companies across ten other sectors from 2000 to 2018 shows that pharmaceutical companies are the most profitable by significant margins. 16 A 2017 Government Accountability Office (GAO) the report on worldwide pharmaceutical industry confirms this: between 2006 and 2015, the average profit margin among the largest 25 drug companies significantly outpaced that of the largest 500 companies across all sectors.17

John (Xuefeng) Jiang, et al., *How Did the Public U.S. Drugmakers' Sales, Expenses, and Profits Change Over Time?*, EVIDENCE BASE (Nov. 5, 2021), https://healthpolicy.usc.edu/evidence-base/how-did-the-public-u-s-drugmakers-sales-expenses-and-profits-change-over-time/.

¹⁴ *Id*.

¹⁵ Luke Hawksbee, et al., Don't worry about the drug industry's profits when considering a waiver on covid-19 intellectual property rights, BMJ (Jan. 31, 2022), https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-067367.

¹⁶ Fred D. Ledly, et al., *Profitability of Large Pharmaceutical Companies With Other Large Public Companies*, 323(9) JAMA NETWORK 834, at 841 (2020).

¹⁷ Gov't Accountability Off., Drug Industry Profits, Research and Development Spending, and Merger and Acquisition Deals, REP. TO CONG. REQUESTERS, Nov. 2017, at 19, https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-18-40.pdf.

Alongside Big Pharma's unparalleled profits is industry's unmatched expenditures in lobbying. The pharmaceutical industry is considered one of the most effective lobbying groups in Washington, D.C.¹⁸ In 2022, the industry spent \$373.7 million in lobbying, outspending all other industries. 19 But despite the lobbyists' familiar refrains each time a regulatory change is proposed, the empirical data demonstrates that the industry reaps record profits. In fact, the pharmaceutical industry could experience an 11 percent profit reduction and still achieve the highest returns of any market sector, while maintaining robust investment in the research and development that fuels innovation.²⁰

ii. The pharmaceutical industry is more innovative than ever.

The pharmaceutical industry has seen robust innovation in the prevention and treatment of disease over the past several decades. Between 1980 and 2022, pharmaceutical companies introduced a growing number of new drugs to the U.S. market each year—and did so increasingly quickly.²¹ Investment in

¹⁸ SEAN DICKSON & JEROMIE BALLREICH, HOW MUCH CAN PHARMA LOSE? A COMPARISON OF RETURNS BETWEEN PHARMACEUTICAL AND OTHER INDUSTRIES 4 (2019), https://westhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WHPC_White-Paper_How-Much-Can-Pharma-Lose_FINAL-November-2019 (last visited Nov. 1, 2024).

¹⁹ Industry Profile: Pharmaceuticals/Health Products: 2022, OPEN SECRETS, https://www.opensecrets.org/federal-lobbying/industries/summary?cycle=2022&id=H04 (last visited Nov. 1, 2024).

²⁰ DICKSON, *supra*, at 10.

 $^{^{21}}$ Enrique Seoane-Vazquez, et al., Analysis of U.S. Food and Drug Administration new drug and biologic approvals, regulatory pathways, and review times, 1980-2022, 14 Sci. Reps. 3325 (Feb. 9, 2024), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-53554-7.

pharmaceutical research and development (R&D) expanded during this time period, with the industry spending over \$83 billion on R&D in 2019—which, when adjusted for inflation, is approximately ten times what the industry spent each year in the 1980's.²²

Over the last two decades, drug companies have filed an increasing number of new drug applications with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) each year and the FDA has approved an increasing number of new drugs.²³ Between 2010 and 2019, an average of 38 new drugs were approved by the FDA annually, which represents a 60 percent increase from the previous decade.²⁴ This number continues to increase. In 2023, the FDA approved 55 new drugs.²⁵ Over the past ten years alone, the pharmaceutical industry has developed hundreds of drugs to treat diseases such as cancer, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease.²⁶

²² CONG. BUDGET OFF., RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT IN THE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY (2021), https://www.cbo.gov/publication/57126.

²³ Angelica Battam, et al., *Trends in FDA drug approvals over last* 2 decades: An observational study, 9 J. FAM. MED. & PRIMARY CARE 105 (Jan. 28, 2020) https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC7014862/.

²⁴ CONG. BUDGET OFF., supra.

²⁵ Beatriz G. de la Torre & Fernando Albericio, *The Pharmaceutical Industry in 2023: An Analysis of FDA Drug Approvals from the Perspective of Molecules*, 29 MOLECULES 585 (2024), https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10856271/; see also Novel Drug Approvals for 2023, FDA, https://www.fda.gov/drugs/novel-drug-approvals-fda/novel-drug-approvals-2023 (last visited Nov. 1, 2024).

²⁶ Novel Drug Approvals for 2022, FDA, https://www.fda.gov/drugs/novel-drug-approvals-fda/novel-drug-approvals-2022 (last visited Nov. 1, 2024); see also Seoane-Vazquez, supra.

The United States remains a leader in the launch of new prescription drugs globally, with more than half of new drugs launched first in the United States in 2022.²⁷ Today, American pharmaceutical companies have thousands of new products in clinical development targeting high-needs therapeutic areas such as cancer and nervous system disorders like Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's. The over 700 new drugs approved by the FDA over the past two decades have contributed to a range of new treatment options for patients across the country.

iii. <u>Innovation is driven by competition, not deregulation.</u>

Regulation in the pharmaceutical industry not only discourages corporate misconduct²⁸— it also promotes innovation. To be sure, regulations such as those implemented by the FDA protect patients from products that may be hazardous, discouraging fraudulent marketing of drugs, prosecuting the manipulation of clinical trials, and reducing other types of corporate misconduct.²⁹ But by certifying drug safety and effectiveness, FDA regulations also increase the value and expected returns on drugs that hit the market, incentivizing innovation.³⁰ These regulations require scientifically rigorous

²⁷ ANDREW W. MULCAHY, COMPARING NEW PRESCRIPTION DRUG AVAILABILITY AND LAUNCH TIMING IN THE UNITED STATES AND OTHER OECD COUNTRIES (2024), https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA788-4.html.

²⁸ Richard C. Ausness, *Corporate Misconduct in the Pharmaceutical Industry*, 71 DePaul L. Rev. 1, 10, 45 (2021).

²⁹ Id.

³⁰ Ariel Katz, *Pharmaceutical Lemons: Innovation and Regulation in the Drug Industry*, 14 MICH. TELECOMM. & TECH. L. REV. 1 (2007), https://ssrn.com/abstract=964664.

clinical trials and promote the investment in R&D that fuels innovation.³¹

Laws that temper the ability of drug manufacturers to engage in anticompetitive behavior have been empirically shown to increase incentives to innovate.³² For example, restricting the ability of drug manufacturers to engage in pay-for-delay agreements causes incumbent drug manufacturers to implement increasing numbers of new drug trials.³³ Conversely, consolidation in the pharmaceutical industry stifles innovation. Merged drug companies spend proportionally less on R&D than their non-merged competitors.³⁴ The data show that, in the periods following waves of mergers in the pharmaceutical industry, the industry has generated fewer new molecular entities each year.³⁵ In sum, the standard story that regulation negatively affects incentives to innovate does not fully capture the role that regulation plays in the pharmaceutical industry.³⁶

³¹ Rebecca S. Eisenberg, *The Role of the FDA in Innovation Policy*, 13 MICH. TELECOMM. & TECH. L. REV. 345 (2007), https://repository.law.umich.edu/mttlr/vol13/iss2/1/.

³² Zuelin Li & Richard Thakor, *How pay-for-delay affects competition and innovation in the pharmaceutical industry*, VOXEU COLUMN (Aug. 11, 2021), https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/how-pay-delay-affects-competition-and-innovation-pharmaceutical-industry.

³³ *Id*.

³⁴ Robin Feldman, *Drug companies keep merging. Why that's bad for consumers and innovation.*, WASH. POST: MADE BY HIST., Apr. 6, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/2021/04/06/drug-companies-keep-merging-why-thats-bad-consumers-innovation/.

³⁵ *Id*.

³⁶ Katz, supra.

II. There is nothing unprecedented about holding pharmaceutical companies liable for unreasonably manipulating their drug portfolio.

Gilead characterizes the liability theory advanced by the plaintiffs and embraced by the Court of Appeal here as wholly without precedent. It argues that there will be disastrous consequences from this supposedly one-of-a-kind cause of action, "equilibrium" including upsetting a fragile protecting manufacturers. See Gilead Reply at 8-9, 31-41. According to Gilead and its amici, a manufacturer of any product may never be held liable for manipulating the availability of its product, even when the manipulation causes substantial harm, unless the product is proven to be defective. This argument is unwound by the existence of a comparable (albeit not exactly analogous) theory of liability in antitrust law—product hopping. Further, despite some successful government enforcement actions and private suits against product hopping, none of the doomsday consequences Gilead describes have come to pass.

a. Pharmaceutical companies are subject to liability under the antitrust laws for product hopping.

Product hopping is a maneuver that pharmaceutical companies have used to subvert the expiration of drug patents by "hopping" patients over to other drugs. New York ex rel. Schneiderman v. Actavis PLC, 787 F.3d 638, 643 (2d Cir. 2015). A company executes a product hop when its patent on a drug is soon to expire. Id. at 642. If the company does nothing, it will lose market share as its patent expires, generic alternatives enter the market, and patients are automatically switched to the generics. Id. at 642–43. From the perspective of a competitive market, the

ideal is that the manufacturer will lower its price, still making a profit but no longer at the dizzying heights of monopoly pricing.

There is, however, a loophole in this system: pharmacists acting under state law will generally only automatically switch a patient to a generic if there is an exact generic version of the branded drug they take. *Id.* at 644–45. A drug company can exploit this loophole by developing a new version of its drug that is functionally identical but different enough to receive its own patent. Id. at 642–43. For example, if a pill form of a drug has a patent that is about to expire, a company can get a new 30-year patent on a functionally identical version of the drug in the form of dissolving strips. Next, the company executes a "product hop" by moving patients from the pill form of the drug to the strip form. If it successfully executes this hop, the company will neither lose market share nor lower its prices to competitive levels when the pill form of the drug expires. Patients on the dissolving strip form of the drug will continue taking that form and will not be automatically switched to the generic alternative.

The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit upheld a preliminary injunction against Actavis PLC for attempting to execute a product hop on an Alzheimer's drug. *Id.* at 643. Actavis's patent on Namenda Instant Release, a twice-daily Alzheimer's pill, was set to expire in 2015. *Id.* at 647. Generics were poised to enter the market, at which point state laws would cause patients to be automatically switched away from the brand-name drug, ending Actavis's monopoly. *Id.* at 649. To avoid this outcome, Actavis introduced Namenda Extended Release, a drug with no medical

benefits that had a patent lasting until 2029. *Id.* at 642. Actavis spent substantial sums of money promoting the new drug to doctors, caregivers, patients, and pharmacists. *Id.* at 648. They also sold the new drug at a discount and provided rebates to encourage switching. *Id.* These efforts to persuade the market to switch to a new drug before generic entry are called a "soft hop."

When Actavis's efforts at executing a soft hop were unsuccessful, Actavis took a more dramatic approach known as a "hard hop." Actavis's "internal projections estimated that only 30% of" users would switch in time based on the soft hop strategies. *Id.* at 648. To retain even more market share, Actavis initiated plans to remove the Instant Release drug from the market entirely. *Id.* This would force Namenda users to switch to the new, Extended Release, formulation before generic entry. *Id.* at 649. As a result, Namenda patients (all of whom would be using Extended Release) would not automatically be switched to generic alternatives and Actavis would maintain its monopoly. *Id.*

According to Gilead and its amicus, Actavis should have an unlimited right to manipulate the availability of its products so long as they are not defective. But Actavis's conduct was unlawful, and it was punished accordingly. The state of New York sued to stop Actavis from pulling the Instant Release version from the market. *Id.* at 643. A preliminary injunction was granted by the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York and upheld by the Second Circuit. *Id.* And multiple class action suits were filed on behalf of injured drug purchasers seeking treble damages. *In re Namenda Direct Purchaser Antitrust Litig.*, No. 15-

cv-7488 (CM)(RWL) (S.D.N.Y.); In re Namenda Indirect Purchaser Antitrust Litig., No. 15-cv-6549 (CM)(RWL) (S.D.N.Y.). One of those suits resulted in a \$750 million settlement. Op. & Order Approving the Settlement, In re Namenda Direct Purchaser Antitrust Litig., No. 15-cv-7488 (CM)(RWL) (S.D.N.Y. May 27, 2020).

Courts and regulators have scrutinized and taken action against product hops in a range of contexts. See, e.g., Abbott Lab'ys v. Teva Pharms. USA, Inc. (TriCor), 432 F. Supp. 2d 408, 422 (D. Del. 2006) (rejecting defendants' bid for immunity on product hopping claim in high-triglyceride treatments); In re Suboxone Antitrust Litig., 64 F. Supp. 3d 665 (E.D. Pa. 2014) (scrutinizing efforts to move patients from opioid addiction tablets to film); Final Order & Stipulated Permanent Inj., FTC v. Warner Chilcott Holdings Co. III, Ltd., No. 1:05-cv-02179 (D.D.C. Oct. 23, 2006); FTC, REPORT ON PHARMACEUTICAL PRODUCT HOPPING (2022), https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/p223900reportpharm aceuticalproducthoppingoct2022.pdf (last visited Nov. 1, 2024) (describing FTC product hop enforcement actions).

b. While not perfectly analogous, product hopping law shows that attaching liability to Gilead is not unprecedented.

Product hopping liability provides an instructive analog to the theory of liability here. This is not a product-hopping case, so naturally there are notable differences between the two approaches. For example, product hopping involves removing a drug from the market whereas here Gilead faces liability for intentionally delaying TAF's release to the market in the first instance. But there are also critical similarities and lessons that can be drawn from the product hopping context.

First, product hop law shows that liability in this case is not so unprecedented as Gilead and its amici insist. Gilead argues that ruling for plaintiffs would create a wholly novel "cycle of liability, transforming every product-development decision into a potential lawsuit over the path not taken[.]" Gilead Opening at 10. Gilead repeatedly asserts that it must be immune from scrutiny over how it manages the "complex decisions" it makes about its drug portfolio. *Id.* at 57. But drug companies already face legal liability for their boardroom decisions about what drugs they develop, market, and sell. Product hop law scrutinizes companies' decisions about drug development, marketing, and sales. For both hard hops (which are the most likely to be subject to liability) and Gilead's conduct, courts condemn decisions that unreasonably reduce customer choice and cause harm.

Legal liability plays a critical role in ensuring that pharmaceutical companies' decisions do not have immense social consequences. In the product hop context, the social consequence to be avoided is allowing companies to unfairly coopt market power. Here, the social consequences—mass human suffering due to avoidable side effects—are far more dire. Incentivizing corporations to act reasonably when deciding between comparable alternatives is the animating premise of much of tort law. Carving out an exception for the conduct here is wrong. Pharmaceutical company's boardroom decisions are not so sacrosanct that they are never subject to liability.

Second, product hopping shows that liability is appropriate even when it implicates decisions about resource allocation. Gilead repeatedly argues that its decisions about allocating "finite resources" must never be impinged by potential liability. *Id.* at 10, 57. Gilead's argument is that by forcing it to expend resources, it will be precluded from using resources for other goals, like new drug development. *Id.* But that argument would preclude liability for product hopping as well. The injunction in *Actavis* required the company to keep selling the Instant Release formula instead of pulling it from the market. This required substantial resource investment in manufacturing, quality assurance, shipping, and more. Nevertheless, courts have not shied away from attaching liability when companies engage in illegal product hops.

Third, despite similarities to the liability here, product hop law has not wrought catastrophic consequences on the pharmaceutical industry. Gilead's arguments would suggest that even the threat of liability in a product hop context would stymie innovation and put a substantial drag on the pharmaceutical industry. But the opposite is true. The pharmaceutical industry has been wildly innovative and successful in the decades since Herbert Hovenkamp defined the concept of a "product hop" and courts began to sustain product hop actions. *Actavis*, 787 F.3d at 643 n.2; *see supra* Section I(b). Instead, both Gilead's liability and product hop law ensure that pharmaceutical companies are incentivized to continue innovating, competing, and acting reasonably on behalf of patients.

The central lesson from product hop law for this litigation is that pharmaceutical companies' decisions about drug portfolios are not, and should not be, immune from liability when they act unreasonably.

CONCLUSION

The parade of horribles warned of by Gilead and its amici will not come to pass. Identical concerns have been raised by the industry for decades and comparable liability schemes have arisen. Nevertheless, pharmaceutical profits, innovation, and drug prices have all risen precipitously. The decision of the Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

November 4, 2024

BERGER MONTAGUE PC

/s/ Paul Bland

F. PAUL BLAND (SBN 298635) 1001 G St., NW, Ste. 400 East Washington, DC 20001 (202) 809-9136 pbland@bm.net

JULIE A. POLLOCK (SBN 346081) MATTHEW I. SUMMERS (SBN 349288) 505 Montgomery St., Ste. 625 San Francisco, CA 94111 (415) 906-0684 jpollock@bm.net msummers@bm.net

JOSEPH E. SAMUEL, JR. (SBN 344732) 1818 Market St., Ste. 360 Philadelphia, PA 19130 (215) 875-3020 jsamuel@bm.net

Counsel for Amicus Curiae Justice Catalyst

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

Pursuant to Rule 8.204 of the California Rules of Court, I certify that the foregoing amicus curiae brief is proportionally spaced, has a typeface of 13-point font, and contains 4,882 words, according to the word processing system used to prepare it. That count does not include the application for permission. If the application is included, the word count is 5,087 words.

November 4, 2024

BERGER MONTAGUE PC

/s/ Paul Bland F. Paul Bland

Counsel for Amicus Curiae Justice Catalyst CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I am a citizen of the United States, over eighteen years old,

and not a party to this action. My place of employment is Berger

Montague PC, 505 Montgomery St., Ste. 625, San Francisco, CA

94111.

On the date set forth below, I served the

APPLICATION FOR PERMISSION TO FILE AMICUS

CURIAE BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF RESPONDENT AND

REAL PARTIES IN INTEREST; AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF

OF JUSTICE CATALYST

VIA E-SERVICE.

I caused the above-referenced document to be transmitted by

electronic service to its intended recipients indicated on the

following pages via the court's Electronic Filing System operated

by ImageSoft TrueFiling.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the

California that the above is true and correct.

Executed on November 4, 2024, in San Francisco, California.

/s/ Connor Rowe

CONNOR ROWE

29

SERVICE LIST

Individual / Counsel Served	Party Represented
M. Elizabeth Graham (SBN 143085) GRANT & EISENHOFER P.A.	Plaintiffs and Real Parties in Interest
2325 Third Street Suite 329 San Francisco, CA 94107 (415) 229-9720 egraham@gelaw.com	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>
Robert K. Jenner	Plaintiffs and Real
JENNER LAW, P.C. 3600 Clipper Mill Road	Parties in Interest
Suite 240 Baltimore, MD 21211 (410) 413-2155 rjenner@jennerlawfirm.com	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>
Myron Moskovitz (SBN 36476)	Plaintiffs and Real
MOSKOVITZ APPELLATE TEAM 90 Crocker Avenue	Parties in Interest
Oakland, California 94611 (510) 384-0354 myronmoskovitz@gmail.com	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>
William A. Kershaw (SBN	Plaintiffs and Real
57486) Kershaw, Talley, Barlow PC	Parties in Interest
401Watt Avenue, Suite 1 Sacramento, CA 95864 (916) 779-7000 bill@ktblegal.com	Via TrueFiling
Amy Eskin (SBN 127668)	Plaintiffs and Real
SCHNEIDER WALLACE COTTRELL KONECKY LLP	Parties in Interest
2000 Powell Street, Suite 1400 Emeryville, CA 94608 (510) 740-2936 aeskin@schneiderwallace.com	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>

	1
Holly N. Boyer Andrew N. Chang ESNER, CHANG, BOYER & MURPHY 234 East Colorado Boulevard Suite 975 Pasadena, California 91101 (626) 535-9860 hboyer@ecbm.law achang@ecbm.law	Plaintiffs and Real Parties in Interest Via TrueFiling
Jeffrey Lawrence THE LAWRENCE LAW FIRM Levi's Plaza 1160 Battery Street East, Suite 100 San Francisco, CA 94111 (415) 685-5030 jeffreyl@jlawrencelaw.com	Plaintiffs and Real Parties in Interest Via TrueFiling
Seth A. Katz BURG SIMPSON ELDREDGE HERSH & JARDINE, P.C. 40 Inverness Drive East Englewood, CO 80112 (303) 792-5595 skatz@burgsimpson.com Cory L. Andrew John M. Masslon II WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 2009 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 (202) 588-0302 candrews@wlf.org	Plaintiffs and Real Parties in Interest Via TrueFiling Amicus Curiae Washington Legal Foundation Via TrueFiling
Geoffrey A. Manne Kristen Stout Jeremy Kidd INTERNATIONAL CENTER FOR LAW & ECONOMICS	Amicus Curiae International Center for Law & Economics

1104 NW 15th Avenue, Suite 300	Via TrueFiling
Portland, OR 97209	
(503) 770-0076	
kstout@laweconcenter.org	
John M. Potter, Esq.	Attorneys for Amici
QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &	Curiae ALLvanza,
SULLIVAN, LLP	Global Coalition on
50 California Street, 22nd Floor	Aging, HIV and
San Francisco, CA 94111	Hepatitis Policy
(415) 875-6600	Institute, Liver
johnpotter@quinnemanuel.com	Coalition of San Diego,
	National Minority
	Quality Forum,
	Partnership to Fight
	Chronic Disease, and
	Phill Wilson
	Via TrueFiling
Joseph Meyer (SBN 328696)	Attorneys for Amici
Thomas G. Saunders	Curiae California Life
Gary M. Fox	Sciences, Biocom
WILMER CUTLER PICKERING HALE AND DORR LLP	California
2100 Pennsylvania Ave., NW	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>
Washington, DC 20037	
(202) 663-6000	
joseph.meyer@wilmerhale.com	
thomas. saunders@wilmerhale.com	
gary.fox@wilmerhale.com	
Sam Chung	
CALIFORNIA LIFE SCIENCES	
1201 K St., Suite 1010	
Sacramento, CA 95814	
(818) 621-5338	
schung@califesciences.org	
Jimmy Jackson	
BIOCOM CALIFORNIA	

10996 Torreyana Rd., Suite 200 San Diego, CA 92121 (858) 832-4149 jjackson@biocom.org Ashley M. Simonsen, Esq. Alice L. Phillips, Esq. COVINGTON & BURLING LLP 1999 Avenue of the Stars Los Angeles, CA 90067 (424) 332-4782	Attorneys for Amici Curiae Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America, Advanced Medical Technology		
asimonsen@cov.com	Association, Biotechnology Innovation Organization, and the Medical Device Manufacturers Association Via TrueFiling		
Paul A. Alarcon, Esq.	Attorneys for Amicus		
BOWMAN AND BROOKE LLP	Curiae		
600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 650	The Product Liability		
Costa Mesa, CA 92626	Advisory Council, Inc.		
Telephone: (310) 380-6500			
paul.alarcon@bowmanandbrooke.com	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>		
Charles C. Lifland, Esq.	Attorneys for Amici		
Sabrina H. Strong, Esq.	Curiae Amgen, Inc.,		
Jeffrey L. Fisher, Esq.	Bayer U.S. LLC,		
Jason Zarrow, Esq.	Biogen Inc., Bristol-		
O'MELVENY & MYERS LLP	Myers Squibb		
400 South Hope Street	Company, Edwards		
18th Floor	Lifesciences		
Los Angeles, CA 90071	Corporation,		
(213) 430-6000	Genentech, Inc.,		
clifland@omm.com	Glaukos Corporation,		
	Hyundai Motor		
	America, Johnson &		

	Johnson, Inc., Kenvue Inc., Kia America, Inc., Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Organon & Co., Roche Molecular Systems, Inc., Sanofi US, Takeda Pharmaceuticals U.S.A., Inc., and Zimmer Biomet Holdings, Inc. Via TrueFiling
Calvin R. House, Esq. GUTIERREZ PRECIADO HOUSE 3020 East Colorado Boulevard Pasadena, CA 91107 (626) 449-2300 calvin.house@gphlawyers.com	Attorneys for Amici Curiae Civil Justice Association of California, California Manufacturers & Technology Association, California Business Roundtable, and the Bay Area Council Via TrueFiling
Theane Evangelis, Esq. Daniel Adler, Esq. GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP 333 South Grand Avenue Los Angeles, CA 90071 (213) 229-7000 dadler@gibsondunn.com	Attorneys for Amicus Curiae National Association of Manufacturers, the Alliance for Automotive Innovation, the American Tort Reform Association, the Personal Care Products Council, the

	American Coating Association, and the American Chemistry Council Via TrueFiling		
Seth Travis	Attorneys for Amicus		
GHOST AUTONOMY INC.	Curiae Ghost Autonomy		
900 Villa Street	Inc.		
Mountain View, CA 94041	77: - M Till:		
sethatravis@gmail.com	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>		
Lawrence S. Ebner	Attorneys for		
ATLANTIC LEGAL FOUNDATION	Amicus Curiae		
1701 Pennsylvania Ave.	Atlantic Legal		
Suite 200	Foundation		
Washington, D.C. 20006			
(202) 349-1421	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>		
Lawrence.ebner@atlanticlegal.org			
Randy Luskey	Attorneys for		
Kannon K. Shanmugam	Amicus Curiae		
PAUL, WEISS, RIFKIND, WHARTON &	Viasat, Inc.,		
GARRISON LLP	Textron Inc. and		
535 Mission Street, 24th floor	Uber Technologies,		
San Francisco, CA 94105	Inc.		
(628) 432-5112			
rluskey@paulweiss.com	<u>Via TrueFiling</u>		

Elizabeth Bixby, Esq.

ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP 355 S. Grand Avenue, Suite 2700

Los Angeles, CA 90071 Telephone: (213) 629-2020 Email: ebixby@orrick.com

E. Joshua Rosenkranz, Esq.
Andrew Silverman, Esq.
Naomi Scotten, Esq.
Siobhan Atkins, Esq.
Emily Villano, Esq.
ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE
LLP 51 West 52nd Street
New York, NY 10019

Telephone: (212) 506-3727
Email: jrosenkranz@orrick.com
 asilverman@orrick.com
 nscotten@orrick.com
 satkins@orrick.com
 evillano@orrick.com

Attorneys for Petitioner Gilead Sciences, Inc.

<u>Via TrueFiling</u>

Attorneys for Petitioner Gilead Sciences, Inc.

Via TrueFiling

PROOF OF CA Supreme Court S283862 Court Name **SERVICE** Case Number

- At the time of service, I was at least 18 years of age. My email address used to e-serve: **pbland@bm.net** I served a copy of the following document(s) indicated below:

Title(s) of documents served:

APPLICATION: Brief of Justice Catalyst as Amicus Curiae

Person Served	Service Address	Туре	Service Date
Calvin House	calvin.house@gphlawyers.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Gutierrez, Preciado & House, LLP		4d2	6b4a9-d020-492a-9c86- 25fc020ee735
Charles Lifland	clifland@omm.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
O'Melveny & Myers LLP		5f4	c0d7d-1f36-4a4e-b9de- 442ad33ef1b7
E. Joshua Rosenkranz	jrosenkranz@orrick.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Orrick, Herrington & Suto	liffe LLP	9d5	5d6fe7-2116-450f-a893- f7e2a23ec552
Paul Alarcon	paul.alarcon@bowmanandbrooke.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Bowman and Brooke LLP		c0c	13bf3-d001-4019-b999-
Siobhan Atkins	satkins@orrick.com	e-Serve	6cda0f3f1b62 11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Orrick, Herrington & Suto	liffe LLP	39	0cd86a3-e7ff-4fc5-a71a- b322a1cf6729
Fletcher Trammell	fletch@trammellpc.com	e-Serve 11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM	
Trammell P.C.		56044c65-a047-4277-b3e0- aa6dcb750291	
Joshua Anderson	janderson@sidley.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Sidley Austin LLP		a37242db-7e16-4dcb-86e7- f4ddf9821f7c	
Cory Andrews	candrews@wlf.org	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Washington Legal Found	ation	133a72bd-7441-450d-8dae- 619daf059bc0	
Amy Gerrish	agerrish@orrick.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP		7dd	5dcf4-e2b3-45d2-9149- 711041254cf6
Ashley Simonsen	asimonsen@cov.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Covington & Burling, LLP	•	1c8a	ab108-662b-40b0-8777-
Daniel Roeder	PATeam10@orrick.com	e-Serve	a9074c204ad6 11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM

Orrick, Herrington & Sut	ccliffe LLP	6e83	34613-2e3c-4a46-80d9-
	T	_	4b4bd3f76c5d 11-04-2024
Joseph Meyer	joseph.meyer@wilmerhale.com	e-Serve	6:14:09 PM
Wilmer Cutler Pickering	Hale and Dorr LLP	64c9ebd2-f806-43fc-820 0b3e7d8bfd9	
Arti Bhimani	arti.bhimani@hivlitigation.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
HIV Litigation Attorneys		4d421bcf-19eb-4dbd-aa81 03dd3edbd819	
M. Elizabeth Graham	egraham@gelaw.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Grant & Eisenhofer P.A.		4a16	5d56a-c210-42bd-8235- f7546a6c11a9
Jonathan Eisenberg	jonathan.eisenberg@ahf.org	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
AIDS Healthcare Founda	ation	7dc	fe9e2-cd7d-47d5-9502- 8921e4f758d1
Collin Wedel	cwedel@sidley.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Sidley Austin LLP		d0d	la58c5-e9ec-4f49-b3a6- e1af419e266e
Holly Boyer	hboyer@ecbm.law	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Esner, Chang, Boyer & N	Murphy	ce8	Ba32a1-d4fc-47f2-8d16- f322fb8363b4
F. Paul Bland	pbland@bm.net	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Berger Montague PC		ed5df16b-71e4-4053-af64 46be31ec97a	
Emily Villano	evillano@orrick.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Orrick, Herrington & Sut	ccliffe LLP	915b4f89-0cac-4edf-9924- 192f8869f4dd	
Kristian Stout	kstout@laweconcenter.org	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
The International Cente	r for Law & Economics	827f019e-66e6-4feb-b650- 810fc520b963	
John Potter	JohnPotter@quinnemanuel.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Quinn Emanuel Urquhar	t & Sullivan, LLP	82861aa4-006b-4dde-8723- 266d3545afbc	
Andrew Silverman	asilverman@orrick.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Orrick, Herrington & Sut	ccliffe LLP	18dfb23d-eb7c-409e-b8ea- 7453903766ea	
Naomi Scotten	nscotten@orrick.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Orrick, Herrington & Sut	ccliffe LLP	14e23639-f476-4446-979f- 9245332d7335	
Randall Luskey	rluskey@paulweiss.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wh	arton & Garrison LLP	a294f65f-98c6-48d2-a216- 25a61a63ecc3	
Elizabeth Bixby	ebixby@orrick.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024 6:14:09 PM

Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP		d666b248-700a-4db1-910c-	
		da2639672ea9	
Daniel R. Adler	dadler@gibsondunn.com	e-Serve	11-04-2024
			6:14:09 PM
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP		df918951-50df-4a0c-bc9a-	
		11850c5726d8	
Lawrence Ebner	lawrence.ebner@atlanticlegal.org	e-Serve	11-04-2024
			6:14:09 PM
Atlantic Legal Foundation		6ad1349c-1d6e-47a1-b30e-	
		cf4e74053ff0	

TrueFiling created, submitted and signed this proof of service on my behalf through my agreements with TrueFiling.

The contents of this proof of service are true to the best of my information, knowledge, and belief.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

11-04-2024 Date /s/F. Paul Bland Signature Bland, F. Paul (298635)
Last Name, First Name (Attorney Number) Berger Montague PC Firm Name